0+7 w/app

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

SID J. WHITE

PLANT 1 1991

CLERK SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

WAYNE FILES,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,552

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LAWRENCE M. KORN #714798 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH ELOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED		
	THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE STATE'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AGAINST BLACK PROSPECTIVE JURORS WAS RACE-NEUTRAL IS WHETHER THE FINDING WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE,	10	
CONCLUSION		20	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE		21	
APPENDIX			

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASE	PAGE(S)		
Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986)	11,12,15, 18		
Files v. State, 16 FLW D2301 (Fla. 1st DCA August 30, 1991)	13,15,16		
Mitchell v. State, 548 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)	16		
Neil v. State, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984)	10,12,13, 18		
Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.) cert. denied, U.S, 111 S.Ct. 230, 112 L.Ed.2d 184	10.13		
	12,13		
Reynolds v. State, 16 F.L.W. S159 (Fla. Jan. 31, 1991)	11,13,18		
Roundtree v. State, 546 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1989)	15,16		
State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 1873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988)	11,12,13, 15,16,17, 18		
CONSTITUTIONS and STATUTES			
Amendment XIV, United States Constitution	9		
Article I, Section 1, Florida Constitution	9		
Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes (1987)	2		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WAYNE FILES,

V.

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 78,552

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Wayne Files was the defendant in the trial court, the appellant in the district court, and will be referred to in this brief as the petitioner or by his proper name. The State of Florida was the prosecution below and will be referred to herein as the state, The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R" and the transcript of the trial proceedings by use of the symbol "T," each followed by the appropriate page number in brackets. All proceedings in this case were in the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Duval County, Florida, the Honorable L. Page Haddock, Circuit Judge presiding, as well as the First District Court of Appeal of Florida. All emphasis in this brief is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

11. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Wayne Files was charged by amended information with three counts of dealing in property stolen on September 27, 1988 [R[43]. Prior to trial, both parties filed a number of pretrial motions. The trial court granted the defendant's motion in limine to exclude alleged similar act evidence based on Files' prior convictions for dealing in stolen property (R 481. This exclusion was based on the premise that the prior conduct was not sufficiently similar to the acts in this case to justify admission under section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes (1987) [T 10]. The trial court also granted the state's motion in limine to exclude Files' statement made to police which tended to exculpate him [R 52]. The basis for this exclusion was that the statement was inadmissible hearsay (T 17). Finally, Files moved to compel production of favorable evidence, namely fingerprints taken from the burglary in which the subject property was taken. Files alleged that this evidence would have corroborated his story (R 55). The trial court denied this motion on the ground that the evidence, as alleged, would only exculpate Files in the burglary (for which he had not been charged), but did not relate at all to the charge of dealing in stolen property [T91].

Jury Selection

Following the trial court's rulings on these pretrial motions, **the** case proceeded to jury selection. The court, as well as the state and defense attorney, conducted voir dire of the prospective jurors [T 21-71]. Neither side exercised any

challenges for cause, but the first two black jurors were peremptorily excused by the state [T 72-73]. After the second black prospective juror was excused from the panel, defense counsel requested the trial court to make an inquiry into the state's motivations for challenging each black person [T 73-74]. Finding that the threshold burden had been met by the defendant, the trial court asked the state for its reasons for striking these prospective jurors [T 741. As to the first prospective juror, Mr. Jefferson, the prosecutor stated that his rap sheet showed a prior DUI conviction and Jefferson had not volunteered that information when asked about prior convictions. The defense attorney countered that no questions were asked of Mr. Jefferson on this subject, so there was no way to determine whether he was the same man who had the prior DUI conviction [T 74].

As to the second black prospective juror challenged by the state, Ms. Williams, the prosecutor stated that she was divorced and unemployed and he preferred to have jurors who worked [T 75]. Of course, the record also reflects that the state accepted three white prospective jurors who were unemployed or divorced onto the jury. One of these served as foreperson.

Files moved to strike the panel on the grounds that the state's reasons were subterfuge and the peremptory challenges were exercised in a racially motivated manner. The trial court denied the motion, and jury selection continued.

The next black prospective juror (for the alternate position) was Ms. Davis. The state initially moved to strike her,

but then withdrew its peremptory challenge when confronted with the allegation that this challenge was also racially motivated [T 76]. With the panel chosen, the case proceeded to trial.

Ms. Davis sat as the alternate, and was the only African-American to sit in the jury box.

The Evidence

The state's case disclosed the following factual situation. On September 27, 1988, the home of Patsy and George Wells in Jacksonville, Florida was burglarized between the hours of 8:00 in the morning and 3:30 in the afternoon [T 106-1071. Various jewelry and clothing items were taken.

Later that day, Wayne Files pawned four gold rings at three different pawn shops in Jacksonville [T 129, 159, 1731. Managers or clerks from these pawn shops testified that Files, using his own identification and signature, exchanged the rings for cash totalling \$80.00 dollars. Pursuant to standard pawn shop detail practices, Detective Malcom Farmer of the Jackson-ville Sheriff's Office recovered the gold rings (T 184), which were identified as the jewelry taken from the home of George and Patsy Wells.

Don Quinn, a handwriting expert for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement testified that, following examination of the signatures on the pawn slips for the rings and comparing them to exemplars of Files' signature, he was able to conclude that Files signed the pawn slips (T 2051. Quinn further stated,

over defense objection, that he believed Files tried to disguise his handwriting when he gave his exemplars [T 315], though he clearly did not attempt to do so when he signed the pawn slips [T 219]. On cross-examination, Quinn admitted that any number of factors other than an attempt to disguise handwriting could account for the divergences between the pawn slips and the exemplars [T 2241.

The state concluded its case by introducing gem and stone experts to testify as to the purchase price and the fair market value of the gold rings [T 235, 2501. After the state rested, Files moved for a judgment of acquittal on the ground that the evidence was not sufficient to show that Files knew or should have known the rings were stolen [T 267]. The trial court denied the motion on the basis of the statutory inference that unexplained possession of recently stolen articles creates the inference that the possessor knows or should know it was stolen [T 2681.

The only defense witness was Wayne Files, who admitted to pawning the items but stated that he received the rings from a man named Clarence [T 274-2791. He asserted that he did not know they were stolen (T 2801. Files stated under oath that Clarence asked Files to pawn the rings because Clarence did not have the required identification while Files did (T 2791. Files testified that he gave the pawn tickets and the money to Clarence [T 2841.

Following Files' testimony, the defense rested and renewed its motion for a judgment of acquittal [T 301]. This time the

motion was grounded on Files' reasonable hypothesis of innocence which went unrebutted by the state, Again, the motion was denied [T 3021. The jury returned with verdicts of guilty on all three counts [T 3931. The trial court then sentenced Files to twelve years in prison, the top of the permitted guidelines range, and ordered Files to pay eighty dollars of restitution to the pawn shops (T 4001. The trial court also denied Files' motion for a new trial which was based on the racially motivated exercise of peremptory challenges, the denial of both motions for judgment of acquittal, and the denial of requested jury instructions as well as the instruction (over objection) that the jury could infer knowledge the property was stolen from his possession of it [R 76-79].

Files filed a timely notice of appeal and the First
District Court of Appeal affirmed Files' convictions, holding
that the correct standard of review for all aspects of the
inquiry into the racial motivations of peremptory challenges is
whether the trial court abused its discretion. Judge Ervin
dissented, stating that he would have reversed the convictions,
holding that, while the proper standard for reviewing whether
the threshold burden has been met is abuse of discretion, the
remainder of the inquiry should be whether the record evidence
was competent and substantial. Recognizing the existence of
some confusion in the authorities, the district court certified
the following question of great public importance to this
Court:

WHAT IS THE STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE STATE'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AGAINST PROSPECTIVE BLACK JURORS WAS REASONABLE, RACENEUTRAL AND NON-PRETEXTUAL?

Files filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction and this proceeding follows.

- 7 -

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Files' motion to strike the jury panel following the clearly racially motivated use of a peremptory challenge against a black prospective juror in this case involving a black defendant and white victims. Defense counsel made the appropriate objections, and the trial court properly found the threshold burden had been met, making the appropriate inquiry; however, the prosecutor gave hollow, pretextual, and unsupported reasons for his exclusion of this black prospective juror. The trial court erred in accepting these reasons (that Ms. Williams was divorced and unemployed) at face value without examining the record to determine their validity or veracity. The record indeed reveals these reasons to be a facade for the racially discriminatory use of peremptory challenges.

The Petitioner acknowledges that the appropriate standard of appellate review for determining whether the moving party has met his or her threshold burden of demonstrating the likelihood of a racially discriminatory use of peremptory challenges is whether the trial judge abused his discretion. That is not, however, the issue in this case. Here, the trial court found that Files had met his initial burden of demonstrating the likelihood of the racially motivated use of a peremptory strike. Rather, the issue in this case is whether that same standard applies to all aspects of the inquiry, specifically, whether the abuse of discretion standard applies to the factual and the legal question of whether the state's reasons were

reasonable and race neutral, or were instead a mere pretext for racial discrimination.

It is the Petitioner's position that the appropriate standard of appellate review of a trial court's ruling that the state's reasons are race-neutral is whether this ruling is supported by competent and substantial evidence. Because an inquiry into the racial motivations of peremptory challenges is a mixed question of both law and fact, the abuse of discretion standard was improperly applied by the district court majority. Such mixed questions should be reviewed by the competent and substantial evidence test.

The application of this appellate standard mandates these convictions be reversed, as the state's reasons for excluding Ms. Williams were mere pretext, designed to cover the violation of Article I, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, as well as the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

While the facts of Ms. Williams' status as a divorced, unemployed woman were supported by the record, there is no record explanation for how those factors relate to her ability to sit as a fair and impartial juror. Moreover, two other white women who were divorced or unemployed were seated on the jury without challenge from the state,

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE STATE'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AGAINST BLACK PROSPECTIVE JURORS WAS RACE-NEUTRAL IS WHETHER THE FINDING WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

One of the prospective jurors in this case who was challenged peremptorily by the state, Ms. Williams, is an African-American woman who is divorced, has five grown children: she was not employed. As the trial court found, the state's exercise of a peremptory challenge against Ms. Williams and the only other Black prospective juror to that point in the selection process, Mr. Jefferson, created the substantial likelihood that the use of those challenges was racially motivated. Given that this threshold matter was resolved in the petitioner's favor, the burden then shifted to the state to formulate raceneutral reasons for the use of these challenges. Neil v. State, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

As to Ms. Williams, in response to the trial court's inquiry, the prosecutor gave the follocing reasons for excluding her: '!'On her, well just the fact that she is unemployed, divorced and has five children.'' He further stated that he "like(d) to have jurors that work. Unless they have some means of support." [T 75]. The prosecutor did not ask what her source of income was. Following the proffer of these reasons, defense counsel moved to strike the panel on the ground that the stated reasons were superficial and pretextual [T 75]. The trial

court denied the motion without any further inquiry into the record to determine whether the reasons were pretextual, and thus intended to conceal actual racial motivations.

Following an inquiry into a party's reasons for exercising peremptory strikes, the trial court is obliged to examine the reasons to determine if they are (1) supported by the record, (2) related to the facts of the case, and (3) apply equally to jurors who were not challenged. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.), cert, denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988); Reynolds v. State, 16 F.L.W. S159 (Fla. Jan. 31, 1991).

Such an examination is a mixed question of law and fact. Factually, the trial court must assess the credibility and reliability of the reasons given by the party, as well **as** the responses of the prospective jurors. Petitioner does not doubt that this inherently discretionary function rests almost solely with the trial judge, and his or her ruling on such discretionary matters should not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse of discretion,

However, once the factual determinations have been made, the trial court must apply those facts to the law as dictated by this Court in $\underline{\text{Slappy}}$. Such an application of the law

cannot be purely discretionary. To give trial judges unbridled discretion on how to apply the legal standards espoused by this Court as well **as** the United States Supreme Court would render meaningless decisions such **as** <u>Slappy</u>, <u>Neil</u>, and <u>Batson</u>, **Accordingly**, **a** more stringent appellate standard must necessarily apply to the review of the legal aspect of the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> inquiry.

The First District Court of Appeal, <u>sub judice</u>, ruled that the abuse of discretion standard was the appropriate appellate standard of review for all aspects of the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> inquiry. This decision was based for the most part on this Court's decision in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.) <u>cert. denied</u>, U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 230, 112 L.Ed.2d 184 (1990). In <u>Reed</u>, this Court held that abuse of discretion is the appropriate appellate standard of review in determining whether the moving party has met its initial, threshold burden of demonstrating the the

(Footnote Continued)

to show the reasons stated by the prosecution were pretextual. Those factors, referred to hereafter **as the** "Slappy factors," are:

⁽¹⁾ alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question,

⁽²⁾ failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror,

⁽³⁾ singling out a juror for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response,

⁽⁴⁾ the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and

⁽⁵⁾ a challenge is based on reasons equally applicable to jurors who were not challenged. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22 (citing Slappy v. State, 503 So.2d 350, 355 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)). These factors have been reaffirmed by this Court on more occasions than would fit in this footnote.

strong likelihood of racial discrimination exists in the use of peremptory challenges, Reed, at 206.

The district court, in the decision below, has extended this standard of appellate review to all aspects of the Neil/Slappy inquiry, not merely to the threshold test, which was the precise, narrow holding of Reed. Judge Ervin, dissenting from the panel decision sub judice, agreed that the abuse of discretion standard applies to both the prima facie showing that a strong likelihood of racial discrimination exists, as well as to the trial judge's findings that the reasons given are race-neutral and reasonable. "I do not believe, however, that it is reasonably clear that the same standard of review applies to rulings made by the trial court regarding whether the reasons proffered by the state are non-pretextual." Filesv. State, 16 FLW D2301 (Fla. 1st DCA August 30, 1991)(Ervin, J., concurring and dissenting).

Judge Ervin expressed his frustration with the lack of clarity of the appropriate standard of review. He pointed to this Court's references to appellate courts' deference on appeal and reliance on the "colorblindness of our trial judges," in Reynolds, 16 F.L.W. at 5160 and Reed, 560 So.2d at 206, while at the same time the Court set forth five factors² which must be considered when assessing the credibility of the proffered reasons, Slappy, 522 So.2d at 24:

 $^{^2}$ See note 1, supra.

Most telling is the Slappy court's own application of the facts to the law. Slappy the reason the prosecutor offered for excusing two of the black jurors was that they were schoolteachers and therefore liberal and would be more lenient to the defendant than to the state's case. Slappy, 522 Sq.2d 19-20, 23. While the court found this season to be race-neutral and reasonable, it stated neutrality and reasonableness alone were not enough, because the state is also required to demonstrate a second factor: record support far the reasons offered and the absence of pretext. <u>Id.</u> at 23. "Thus, where the total course of questioning all the jurors shows the presence of any of the five factors listed in Slappy (503 So, 2d at 3551 and the state fails to offer convincing rebuttal, then the state's explanations must be deemed a pretext." Id. (emphasis added). The Slappy court concluded that the state's reasons were a pretext, because the state failed to establish that the jurors were in fact liberal by asking the few questions that would have established the existence of that trait. Id.

* * * *

When each of those five Slappy factors is examined, it is evident that each will either be established or disproved by an examination of the record. Thus it is my belief that the proper standard of review to be applied to the issue of whether the proffered reason for the use of peremptory challenge is pretextual is one of competent, substantial evidence within the record. Certainly case law from the Florida Supreme Court supports such a standard, For example, if the record fails to support the proffered reason, the trial judge must find the reason to be unacceptable, or the appellate court will find error. See Williams v. State, 574 So.2d 136, 137 (Fla. 1991) (juror improperly excused for the reason that he failed to understand the felony murder doctrine, because record revealed no questions were asked of that juror in reaard to that doctrine): Tillman v. State, 522 So.2d 14, 17 (Fla. 1988) (prosecutor challenged jurors on the ground that they lacked sufficient education-to

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