047

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J WHITE

OC 21 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

WAYNE FILES,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,552

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0714224

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial below court properly accepted the prosecutor's proffered reasons for peremptorily challenging two black venire persons where the reasons given were reasonable, race-neutral, and nonpretextual. Trial courts have broad discretion in evaluating a prosecutor's responsive explanations for the challenges, within the limitations imposed by Neil and Slappy, infra. As a trial court's finding that peremptory challenges were exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner is a finding of fact based in large part on a determination of credibility, such a finding may not be overturned unless the record reflects a clear or palpable abuse of discretion.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHAT IS THE STANDARD OF PPELLATE REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT PEREMPTORY STATE'S USE OF CHALLENGES **AGAINST** PROSPECTIVE BLACK JURORS WAS NON-REASONABLE, RACE-NEUTRAL AND PRETEXTUAL?

At issue in this case is the question of how much deference is to be accorded to a trial court's factual finding that a prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge in a racially neutral and nonpretextual manner.

In <u>Neil v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), this Court set forth the procedure to be followed by trial courts to determine whether racial discrimination exists in the exercise of peremptory challenges:

party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges timely objection must make a demonstrate on the record that $t\,h\,e$ challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their If a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood, no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptories. On the other hand, if the court decides that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show that the questioned challenges were exercised solely because of the prospective jurors' race. The reasons given in response to the court's

inquiry need not be equivalent to those for a challenge for cause. If the party shows that the challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged persons other than race, then the inquiry should end and jury selection should continue.

Neil, supra at 486, 487 (footnotes omitted).

In <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.), <u>cert. den.</u>, 487 US 1219, 101 L.Ed.2d 909, 108 S.Ct. 2873 (1988), this Court stated that

Part of the trial judge's role is to evaluate both the credibility of the person offering the explanation as well as the credibility of the asserted reasons. These must be weighed in light of the circumstances of the case and the total course of the voir dire in question, as reflected in the record.

We agree with the district court below that a judge cannot merely accept the reasons proffered at face value, but must evaluate those reasons as he or she would weigh any disputed fact. In order to permit the questioned challenge, the trial judge must conclude that the proffered reasons are, first, neutral and reasonable and, second, not a pretext.

Slappy, supra at 22 (emphasis supplied).

This Court has recognized the necessity of relying on a trial judge's factual finding regarding whether peremptory challenges are racially intended, due to the inability of a cold transcript to convey either a prospective juror's

nonverbal characteristics or a prosecutor's credibility. In Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203, 206 (Fla.) cert. den.
U.S. _____, 112 L.Ed.2d 184, 111 S.Ct. 230 (1990), this Court held

Within the limitations imposed by *State* v. Neil, the trial judge necessarily is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially intended. *State* v. Slappy. Only one who is present at the trial can discern the nuances of the spoken word and the demeanor of those involved.

* * *

In trying to achieve the delicate balance between eliminating racial prejudice and the right to exercise peremptory challenges, we must necessarily rely on the inherent fairness and color blindness of our trial judges who are on the scene and who themselves get a "feel" for what is going on in the jury selection process.

In Reynolds v. State, 576 So.2d 1300, 1302 (Fla. 1991), this Court noted that

... the state correctly calls to our attention the fact that our recent opinion in *Reed* vests significant discretion in the trial court on Neil issues by requiring appellate courts to show deference to the trial court's conclusions, Specifically, Reed states that appellate courts must "rely on the inherent fairness and color blindness of our trial judges who are on the scene and who themselves get a 'feel' for what is going on in the jury selection process," Reed, 560 So.2d However, Reed rested on the assumption that, in the context of that case, some sort of Neil inquiry must have been made in the first instance.

Here, there was none at all. Deference cannot be shown to a conclusion that was never made.

See also <u>Green v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S437, 438 (Fla. June 6, 1991) (the trial judge is in the beat position to determine if peremptory challenges have been properly exercised).

In the instant case, a <u>Neil</u> inquiry was **made**, and the appellate court accorded the trial court's conclusion the proper deference. The discretionary standard of review above has been widely recognized **as** the appropriate standard when dealing with juror challenges.

The California Supreme Court, in <u>People v. Johnson</u>, 767 P.2d 1047 (Cal. 1989), "return[ed] to a standard of truly giving great deference to the trial court in distinguishing bona fide reasons [for peremptorily challenging prospective jurors] from sham excuses." Id., at 1057. The court there affirmed the trial court's finding that the prosecutor properly used nine peremptory challenges to exclude all blacks, Jews, and Asians from the jury which ultimately convicted the black defendant of murder and sentenced him to death. The Court said:

selection process make it difficult, if not impossible, on a cold record, to evaluate or compare the peremptory challenge of one juror with the retention of another juror which on paper appears to be substantially similar. The dissent's attempt to make such an analysis of the prosecutor's use of his peremptory challenges is

highly speculative and less reliable than the determination made by the trial judge who witnessed the process by which the defendant's jury was selected.

Id., at 1057. Johnson is relevant to Florida case law by virtue of the relationship between Florida and California decisions on this issue. In Neil, this Court was persuaded, at least in part, to follow the California test that had been developed in People v. Wheeler, 583 P.2d 748 (Cal. 1978) to evaluate a claim of discrimination through the exercise of peremptory challenges. More recently in Slappy, this Court noted that "Neil followed the adoption of similar standards in California. . . . " 522 So.2d at 18, fn. 1.

California's advantage over Florida of several years experience with this issue demonstrates an evolution resulting in the "return to the standard of truly great deference."

The requirement of the deference is a long-standing one. In Reynolds v. United States, 98 U.S. 145, 156-157 (1878), the United States Supreme Court said:

[T]he manner of the juror while testifying is often times more indicative of the real character of his opinion than his words. That is seen below, but cannot always be spread upon the record. Care should, **therefore**, be taken in the reviewing court not to reverse the ruling below upon such a question of fact, except in clear case.

8

In <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412, **83 L.Ed.2d 841, 105** S.Ct. 844 (1985), the principle was reiterated:

What common **sense** should have realized experience has proved: many veniremen simply cannot be asked enough questions to reach the point where their bias has been made 'unmistakably clear'; these veniremen may not know how they will react when faced with imposing the death sentence, or may be unable to articulate, or may wish to hide their true feelings. Despite this lack of clarity in the printed record, however, there will be situations where the trial judge is left with the definite impression that a prospective juror would be unable to faithfully and impartially apply the law. For reasons that will be developed more fully infra, this is why deference must be paid to the trial judge who sees and hears the juror.

83 L, Ed, 2d at 852, 853.

The United States Supreme Court held in <u>Batson v.</u>
Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79. 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986),
that a finding of intentional discrimination is a finding of fact, citing <u>Anderson v. Bessemer City</u>, 470 U.S. 564, 573,
84 L.Ed.2d 518, 105 S.Ct. 1504 (1985). The Court stated that since a trial judge's findings in the peremptory challenge context largely will turn on evaluation of credibility, a reviewing.court should give those findings great deference. <u>Batson</u>, ft. nt. 21.

In <u>Hernandez v. New York</u>, 500 US _____, 114 L.Ed.2d 395, 111 S.Ct. _____ (1991), the U.S. Supreme Court considered a trial court's acceptance of a prosecutor's reasons for

peremptorily challenging hispanic prospective jurors. The Court stated:

The trial judge in this case chose to believe the prosecutor's race-neutral explanation for striking the two jurors in question, rejecting petitioner's assertion that the reasons were pretextual. In <u>Batson</u>, we explained that the trial court's decision on the ultimate question of discriminatory intent represents a finding of fact of the sort accorded great deference on appeal:

Title VII "In a recent discrimination case, we stated that 'a finding of intentional discrimination is a finding of fact' entitled to appropriate deference by a reviewing court. Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573 (1985). Since the trial judge's findings in the context under consideration here largely turn on evaluation of credibility, a reviewing court ordinarily should give those findings great deference. at 575-576. Batson, Supra, at 98, n. 21.

Batson's treatment of intent discriminate as a pure issue of fact, subject to review under a deferential standard, accords with our treatment of that issue in other equal protection See Hunter v. Underwood, 471 cases. U.S. 222, 229 (1985) (Court of Appeals correctly found that District Court committed clear error in concluding state constitutional provision was not adopted out of racial animus); Rogers v. Lodge, 458 U.S. 613, 622-623 (1982) (clearly erroneous standard applies to review of finding that at-large voting system maintained was discriminatory purposes); Dayton Board of Education v. Brinkman, 443 U.S. 526, 534 (1979) (affirming Court of Appeals' conclusion that District Court's intentional failure find the to

operation of a dual school system was clearly erroneous); Akins v. Texas, 325 U.S. 398 , 401-402 (1945) (great respect accorded to findings of state court in discriminatory jury selection case); see also Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 113 (1085). As Batson's citation to Anderson suggests, it also corresponds with out treatment of the intent inquiry under Title VII. See Pullman-Standard v. Swint, 456 U.S. 273, 293 (1982).

Deference to trial court findings on the issue of discriminatory intent makes particular sense in this context because, as we noted in Batson, the finding will "largely turn evaluation of credibility." 476 U.S., In the typical 98, n. 21. peremptory challenge inquiry, decisive question will be whether counsel's race-neutral explanation for peremptory challenge should There will seldom be much believed. evidence bearing an that issue, and the evidence often will be demeanor of the attorney who exercises the challenge. As with the state of mind of a juror, evaluation of the prosecutor's state of mind based on credibility demeanor and "peculiarly within a trial judge's province." Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 428 (1985), citing Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025, 1038 (1984).

* * *

In the case before use, we decline to overturn the state trial court's finding on the issue of discriminatory intent unless convinced that its determination was clearly erroneous.

Hernandez, 14 L.Ed.2d at 408-412.

The aforecited cases demonstrate that whether proffered reasons for peremptorily excusing a prospective juror are racially neutral is purely a question of fact. Batson,

<u>Hernandez</u>, supra. Indeed, this Court stated specifically in <u>Slappy</u>, supra, that **a** trial judge "...must evaluate those reasons as he or she would weigh any disputed <u>fact</u>." <u>Id</u>. at **22** (emphasis supplied).

The Petitioner suggests that this Court should create a new standard whereby the determination of racial neutrality becomes "a mixed question of law and fact." (Petitioner's brief p. 11). According to Petitioner, a trial court should first determine whether the prosecutor's reasons are raceneutral and nonpretextual. Then, the court must engage in a second level of inquiry based on the five factors set forth in Slappy, to wit:

(1) alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question, (2) failure to examine the juror perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, (3) singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror who were not challenged. (sic).

Slappy, supra at 22.

It is clear, however; that the factors listed above are intended to serve as examples of possible factual situations which a trial judge should be aware of in making his or her factual determination. These factors were never intended as a substantive standard of review to which automatic reversal

would apply. They are indicators which might weigh against the legitimacy of a race-neutral explanation.

Even where one or more of the above facts are present, a trial court's factual finding must be accorded that level of deference traditionally accorded to findings of fact. ¹

The federal courts will uphold a trial court's findings of fact unless such findings are clearly erroneous. See e.g. <u>U.S. v. Garcia</u>, 741 F.2d 363 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>U.S. v. Shields</u>, 675 F.2d 1152, (11th Cir.), <u>cert. den.</u> 459 U.S. 858, 74 L.Ed.2d 112, 103 S.Ct. 130 (1982). This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, the credibility of witnesses, and the weight to be given evidence by the trial court. <u>Demps v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1984).

Turning to the facts of the instant case, it is evident that the trial court properly concluded that the prosecutor's reasons for peremptorily striking two prospective black jurors were not racially motivated or pretextual, and that the prosecutor's reasons are supported by the record.

It is important to note that this is a different situation from **the** question of the competency of **a** challenged <u>juror</u>, which is a mixed question of law **and** fact based on reasonable doubt **as** to a juror's possessing the state of mind which will enable the juror to render an impartial verdict. See e.g. <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959). See also Batson 90 L.Ed.2d at 88 (the prosecutor's explanation need not rise to the level justifying exercise of a challenge for cause),

Prospective juror Jefferson was first challenged by the prosecutor. When **asked** by the court to state the reason, 'the prasecutor said:

his record shows a prior DUI conviction. I specifically asked if anybody had any convictions and he didn't volunteer that. So that alone is sufficient in my mind. I don't want him on the jury if he is not giving me truthful answers. (T74).

Prospective Juror Williams was also challenged. When asked to state his reasons , the prosecutor said:

the fact she is unemployed, divorced has three children (sic),

* * *

To me it means, one, she is unemployed, she doesn't work, like to have jurors that work. (T75)

The trial court thereupon denied the defense motion to strike the panel, accepting the State's reasons for peremptorily striking the prospective jurors. (T 75). The jury was ultimately composed of four whites, two blacks, and a black alternate. While numbers alone are not dispositive, it is well settled that leaving unchallenged blacks on the venire may be a factor in the initial determination of

The voir dire record supports that State's asserted reasons (T 27), unlike in <u>Slappy</u>, where there was no record support for the assertion of the challenged juror's liberalism,

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